FILED
June 22, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 32935-6

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZURIEL, INC., a Washington corporation; EDWARD D. OCHOA, Jr.,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

DAN GALBREATH and JANE DOE GALBREATH, husband and wife; DOUBLE UP RANCH, INC., a Washington corporation; GREG GALBREATH and JANE DOE GALBREATH, husband and wife; 82 FARMS, INC., a Washington corporation,

Defendants/Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Brian J. Iller Attorney for All Defendants/Appellants

RETTIG OSBORNE FORGETTE, LLP 6725 W. Clearwater Avenue Kennewick, WA 99336 Phone: (509) 783-6154

Fax: (509) 783-0858

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court's erred in refusing to instruct the jury that federal law prohibited the marketing potatoes if residues of Picloram and Triclopyr were present.
- 2. The trial court erred in directing a verdict on duty.
- The trial court erred in directing a verdict on breach of duty.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Was Defendant Double Up able to argue its theory of the case after the trial court refused to instruct that Federal law prohibits the introduction of potatoes into commerce if there are residues of Picloram and Triclopyr, pesticides never applied by Defendants?
- 2. Was a question of fact presented as to duty?
- 3. Was a question of fact presented as to breach of duty when evidence was submitted that any Widematch left from the

2011 application would have caused no damage to the plants and the damage was caused by other pesticides from other sources.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a sublease of agricultural ground for a potato crop in 2012. (PR 238) Defendants Galbreath, Double Up Ranch and 82 Farms (collectively "Double Up") leased ground from the Ahren family trust (RP 320), and then subleased ground to Plaintiff Zuriel, Inc., which is owned by Plaintiff Ochoa (both hereinafter "Zuriel"). (RP 328)

The potato crop grew normally until symptoms appeared on July 11, 2012, a few days after Zuriel had a fungicide applied to the field, and then shortly spread throughout the field. By July 23, 2012 the symptoms were widespread, uniform, and "omnipresent". (RP 213; 535-6)

The Washington State Department of Agriculture (WSDA) found four herbicides in the potatoes and other samples from the field, Clopyralid, Picloram, Triclopyr, and 2,4-D (RP 161-64). There is no evidence that three of those pesticides were ever applied by any defendant. The crop was ordered held from market by WSDA based on the presence of Clopyralid, though there is no dispute that federal law makes it a crime to introduce of potatoes into commerce if they have residues of Picloram or Triclopyr.

The lease and lease negotiations between the parties were completely oral. (RP 523) Dan Galbreath and Eddie Ochoa negotiated the lease in the September, 2011. (RP 523-5; Exhibit 26, page 2) During the lease negotiations, Ochoa did not ask for a complete history of the chemicals or pesticides applied to the property. (RP 523-4) Ochoa knew

¹ "Pesticide" is used herein as defined in FIFRA (the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act), to mean: "(1) any substance or mixture of substances intended for preventing, destroying, repelling, or mitigating any pest, (2) any substance or mixture of substances intended for use as a plant regulator, defoliant, or desiccant, and (3) any

that Dan Galbreath farmed "well over 4,000 to 5,000 acres," but he just assumed that Dan would remember that the pesticide "Widematch" had been applied by his cousin Greg to one of the circles in 2011, and would remember the recommended plant back period before potatoes. (RP 529) Galbreath did not remember the Widematch application at the time of the negotiations. (RP 340)

If Ochoa had asked for a chemical history as a condition of the lease, Galbreath would have obtained the application records and provided them to Ochoa. (RP 340; 530) Those records would have revealed the May 11, 2011 Widematch application. (RP 340; 530)

Widematch includes the chemical Clopyralid, and the Widematch label recommends (but does not mandate) an eighteen month period between application and planting of potatoes due to risk of carryover. (RP 166; Exhibit 23)

nitrogen stabilizer, except that the term "pesticide" shall not include any article that is a "new animal drug...." 7 U.S.C.A. § 136(u).

Ochoa's potatoes were planted 11 months after the application. (RP 167)

Until July 11, 2011, the potatoes looked absolutely normal. (RP 535-6) Ochoa told the WSDA he had first notified his field man of the symptoms on July 16, 2012. (Ibid; Exhibit 55). The symptoms appeared a few days after an aerial pesticide application made by agents of Zuriel. (RP 573)

The WSDA was called and took various samples on July 23, 2012. (RP 195-6) The WSDA found four herbicide residues in the field and in the potatoes: Clopyralid, Picloram, Triclopyr, and 2,4-D. (RP 161-4) Picloram and Triclopyr can stay present in the soil for several years according to the WSDA investigator, so that investigator did not attempt to find who or how those got into the field (RP 163). Only one of the one of the pesticides found, Clopyralid, is present in Widematch. (RP 165). The presence of 2,4-D was especially

mystifying because that herbicide degrades quickly and would not be detectable after five to six weeks. (CP 1123-24). Based on the finding of 2,4-D in the July 23 samples, it is therefore established that 2,4-D was introduced into Ochoa's potato field approximately the middle of June, 2012. (RP 289)

There is no evidence at all that Double Up ever applied Picloram, Triclopyr or 2,4-D to the field or knew or should have known who had applied or drifted those pesticides onto the field, or when those pesticides had been applied or drifted.

The severity, uniformity, and timing of appearance of the symptoms led defense expert Agronomist Stuart Turner to hypothesize that carryover from the 2011 Widematch application probably was NOT the source of the damage to the plants. (RP 1052; 1103-4) To test this hypothesis, Turner and co-investigator Bob Callihan, Ph.D. engaged in large scale test plots to determine whether the Clopyralid found in Ochoa's 2012 potatoes could have come from the 2011 Widematch

application, and to determine what symptoms were consistent with those reported from the Ochoa field. (RP 1053; 1103-4) The test plots showed almost no symptoms of herbicide damage where Clopyralid had been applied the year before—less than 1% of the plants had light symptoms. (RP 1106). Even where Chlopyralid had been double applied the year before (a "2X" application), only 2% of the plants showed light symptoms. (RP 1106). Dr. Callihan testified that there were no symptoms in the test plot that were remotely similar to those reported in the Ochoa field (RP 1368).

Turner and Dr. Callihan concluded and testified that the 2011 Widematch application was <u>not</u> the primary source of the damage symptoms observed or of the comparatively high Clopyralid residues found in 2012 in the Ochoa field. (RP 1124). They reached this conclusion for multiple reasons, including the fact that any carryover from 2011 would have been a fraction of what was found in Ochoa's 2012 field,

damage from carryover would have been noted immediately upon the emergence of Ochoa's potato plants, and damage from carryover would not have been uniform across the field. (RP 1176; 1390) Turner and Callihan demonstrated that the only way to mimic the symptoms observed in Ochoa's field was to add additional pesticides to the leaves of the plants. They concluded also that there must have been an additional source, or sources, of Clopyralid. as well as Triclopyr and Picloram. (RP 1243-44) Dr. Callihan testified that the levels in the Ochoa potatoes were three times higher than what was found in the test plots. (RP 1371)

Since the potatoes would have been rejected regardless of the 2011 Widematch application, Turner and Callihan concluded that application is not the cause of Ochoa's damages. (RP 1124)

The Ochoa witnesses (including WSDA representation) speculated wholly without evidence that the Picloram found

might have been from a spot treatment, even though they admit not having investigated the source, and even though Picloram is used in grain production. (RP 162). As to Triclopyr, they did not even speculate about the source in the Ochoa field, though they noted it is used for grain production and right of ways. (RP 163). Picloram last two to four times longer in the soil than Clopyralid. (RP 1173

Further, Ochoa's witnesses admitted that Picloram and Triclopyr had higher analytical testing detection levels compared to the Clopyralid which means that there could well be more Picloram than Clopyralid in the potatoes, and more Triclopyr in the potatoes Clopyralid. (RP 255-56).

Double Up proposed three instructions regarding federal law as follows:

Instruction No. 21

Federal law prohibits anyone from putting potatoes into the stream of commerce if any trace

of the herbicide Clopyralid is found in the potatoes.

(CP 53)

Instruction No. 22

Federal law prohibits anyone from putting potatoes into the stream of commerce if any trace of the herbicide Picloram is found in the potatoes.

(CP 54)

Instruction No. 23

Federal law prohibits anyone from putting potatoes into the stream of commerce if any trace of the herbicide Triclopyr is found in the potatoes.

(CP 55)

The WSDA Food Safety Office testified and admitted that Federal Law controls the issues as to whether the potatoes could be put into commerce:

Q: But if the Feds say zero tolerance, the State can't say we're going to tolerate it and allow you to put it into commerce; correct?

A I believe that's the case.

The Court refused to give the proposed instructions on federal law, and Double Up took exception to that refusal. (RP 1684-1685)

D. ARGUMENT

1. Summary of Argument

The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA), prohibits precludes the marketing of potatoes with Picloram, Triclopyr or Chlopyralid residues. The trial court refused to give jury instructions stating that federal law prohibits putting potatoes into commerce if they have residues of Picloram or Triclopyr. The failure to include such an instruction prevented Double Up from arguing its theory of the case that there could be no causation of damages because the potatoes were rendered legally unmarketable for reasons in addition to the Widematch application.

The court directed a verdict on duty even though Washington still follows the rule of *caveat emptor* as to open

agricultural land, and directed a verdict on breach of duty there was no evidence to support the existence of a quasifiduciary special relationship other than the unsupported, self-serving claim of the plaintiff, who admitted he had never discussed the supposed quasi-partnership with Double Up. If Double Up's evidence were accepted, as required on a motion for directed verdict, the 2011 Widematch application did not cause the damages, and therefore duty was not breached.

For the same reasons, the Court erred in rejecting Double Up's verdict form.

2. Standards of Review.

a. Review of Jury Instructions.

The applicable standards of review for refusal to give jury instructions are stated in *Barrett v. Lucky Seven Saloon, Inc.*, 152 Wn. 2d 259, 266-67, 96 P.3d 386, 389 (2004) as follows:

This court reviews de novo the alleged errors of law in a trial court's instructions to the jury. Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., 127 Wash.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682 (1995). Instructions are inadequate if they prevent a party from arguing its theory of the case, mislead the jury, or misstate the applicable law. Bell v. State, 147 Wash.2d 166, 176, 52 P.3d 503 (2002). Failure to permit instructions on a party's theory of the case, where there is evidence supporting the theory, is reversible error. State v. Williams, 132 Wash.2d 248, 259-60, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997) (citing State v. Griffin, 100 Wash.2d 417, 420, 670 P.2d 265 (1983)). As with a trial court's instruction misstating the applicable law, a court's omission of a proposed statement of the governing law will be "reversible error where it prejudices a party." Hue, 127 Wash.2d at 92, 896 P.2d 682. If a party proposes an instruction setting forth the language of a statute, the instruction will be "appropriate only if the statute is applicable, reasonably clear, and not misleading." Bell, 147 Wash.2d at 177, 52 P.3d 503.

The same standards apply to review of verdict forms.

See Capers v. Bon Marche, 91 Wash.App. 138, 955

P.2d 822 (1998), review denied, 137 Wash.2d 1002, 972 P.2d 464 (1999).

b. Review of Directed Verdict.

The granting of a directed verdict is reviewed *de novo*.

Ramey v. Knorr, 130 Wn. App. 672, 676, 124 P.3d 314, 317 (2005). The appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court, as described in *Chaney v. Providence Health Care*, 176 Wn. 2d 727, 732, 295 P.3d 728, 731 (2013) held:

On review of a ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court. *Hizey v. Carpenter*, 119 Wash.2d 251, 272, 830 P.2d 646 (1992) (quoting *Indus. Indem. Co. of Nw. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wash.2d 907, 915–16, 792 P.2d 520 (1990)). A directed verdict is appropriate if, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party. *Harris v. Drake*, 152 Wash.2d 480, 493, 99 P.3d 872 (2004) (citing *Moe v. Wise*, 97 Wash.App. 950, 956, 989 P.2d 1148 (1999)).

As stated in *Hizey v. Carpenter*, cited in *Chaney:*

"'A directed verdict or judgment n.o.v. is appropriate if, when viewing the material evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, that there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inferences to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Hizey*, 119 Wn.2d at 271–72.

The moving party must prove that there is no substantial evidence, or reasonable inference from that evidence, which, viewed in a light most favorable to the prevailing party, supports the decision made by the jury.

Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc., 134 Wn.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997).

3. The Federal Food Drug And Cosmetic
Act Prohibits The Sale Of Potatoes That
Have Detectable Residues Of Picloram
Or Triclopyr.

Plaintiffs' potatoes tested positive for a number of chemicals in addition to the Clopyralid. Two of those chemicals were Picloram and Triclopyr. Though WSDA Food Safety cited only the Clopyralid as the reason it barred

Ochoa's potatoes from market, the potatoes could not legally have been sold due to the presence of either Picloram or Triclopyr.

The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) prohibits the introduction or delivery of "adulterated food" into interstate commerce:

The following acts and the causing thereof are prohibited:

(a) The introduction or delivery for introduction into interstate commerce of any <u>food</u>, drug, device, tobacco product, or cosmetic <u>that is adulterated</u> or misbranded.

21 U.S.C.A. § 331 (Underlining added.)

It is a crime punishable by up to a year in prison to violate § 331 by selling adulterated food.

- (a) Violation of section 331 of this title; second violation; intent to defraud or mislead
 - (1) Any person who violates a provision of section 331 of this title shall be imprisoned for not more than one year or fined not more than \$1,000, or both.

21 U.S.C.A. § 333 (Underlining added.)

21 U.S.C.A. § 342 states that a food is deemed to be adulterated if it contains a pesticide chemical residue that is "unsafe:"

A food shall be deemed to be adulterated--

(a) Poisonous, insanitary, etc., ingredients

* * *

(2)(A) if it bears or contains any added poisonous or added deleterious substance (other than a substance that is a pesticide chemical residue in or on a raw agricultural commodity or processed food, a food additive, a color additive, or a new animal drug) that is unsafe within the meaning of section 346 of this title; or (B) if it bears or contains a pesticide chemical residue that is unsafe within the meaning of section 346a(a) of this title;

(Underlining added.)

21 U.S.C. § 346a, entitled "Tolerances and exemptions for pesticide," defines what pesticide chemicals are considered "unsafe" for purposes of the act by generally prohibiting any

sale of a food product with residues <u>unless there is a FDA</u> regulation that exempts or authorizes the sale, as follows:

- (a) Requirement for tolerance or exemption
- (1) General rule

Except as provided in paragraph (2) or (3), any pesticide chemical residue in or on a food shall be deemed unsafe for the purpose of section 342(a)(2)(B) of this title *unless*--

- (A) a tolerance for such pesticide chemical residue in or on such food is in effect under this section and the quantity of the residue is within the limits of the tolerance; or
- (B) an exemption from the requirement of a tolerance is in effect under this section for the pesticide chemical residue.

(Emphasis added.)

Paragraph (2) of § 346a governs "processed foods," and therefore does not apply to Ochoa's potatoes. Paragraph (3) of § 346a governs "Residues of degradation products" and therefore does not apply to the Clopyralid, Picloram, or

FIFRA defines "pesticide" to include anything that is intended to destroy a "pest," and defines "pest" to include weeds. 7 U.S.C.A. § 136 provides:

(t) Pest

The term "pest" means (1) any insect, rodent, nematode, fungus, weed, or (2) any other form of terrestrial or aquatic plant or animal life or virus, bacteria, or other micro-organism (except viruses, bacteria, or other micro-organisms on or in living man or other living animals) which the Administrator declares to be a pest under section 136w(c)(1) of this title.

(u) Pesticide

The term "pesticide" means (1) any substance or mixture of substances intended for preventing, destroying, repelling, or mitigating any pest, (2) any substance or mixture of substances intended for use as a plant regulator

7 U.S.C.A. § 136 (Underlining added.)

No exemption from the statute is found for any of the three herbicides at issue here.

Triclopyr at issue in this case because those are the actual herbicides, not the degradation products of herbicides.

FIFRA Herbicides are "pesticide chemical" within the meaning of the statute. 21 U.S.C.A. § 321(q) defines the term by reference to:

- (q)(1)(A) Except as provided in clause (B), the term "pesticide chemical" means any substance that is a pesticide within the meaning of the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act [FIFRA, codified at 7 U.S.C.A. § 136 et seq.], including all active and inert ingredients of such pesticide. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the term "pesticide" within such meaning includes ethylene oxide and propylene oxide when such substances are applied on food.
- (B) In the case of the use, with respect to food, of a substance described in clause (A) to prevent, destroy, repel, or mitigate microorganisms (including bacteria, viruses, fungi, protozoa, algae, and slime)

(Underlining added.)

40 C.F.R. § 180.431 is the regulation that provides tolerances for Clopyralid pursuant to that statute, and there is no (zero) allowable food tolerance for Clopyralid in potatoes.

40 C.F.R. § 180.292 is the regulation that provides tolerances for Picloram pursuant to that statute, and there is no (zero) allowable food tolerance for Picloram in potatoes.

40 C.F.R. § 180.417 is the regulation that provides tolerances for Triclopyr pursuant to the statute, and there is no (zero) allowable food tolerance for in potatoes.

There are no exemptions for any of the three herbicides. See 40 C.F.R. § 180.905 et seq.

Therefore the potatoes could not legally be sold into commerce because Picloram residues existed in them, and because Triclopyr residues existed in them. It would have been illegal for Zuriel to sell the potatoes regardless of WSDA's action once it knew that all three chemicals were present in the potatoes. The fact that WSDA relied on the

easier-to-find Chlopyralid finding does not excuse Zuriel from following the law on Picloram and Triclopyr.

This was a primary defense theory of the case: The potatoes could not have been marketed whether or not residues from Double Up's Widematch application were in the potatoes because federal law precluded the marketing of the potatoes due to the Picloram and Triclopyr residues found in the potatoes, as well as the Chlopyralid from some unknown source. Indeed, it is precisely the same law – the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) that precluded the marketing of the potatoes because of the residues of all three pesticides.

Without a jury instruction telling the jury that was the law, however, Double Up could not make that argument because the jury did not know what the federal law prohibited.

The failure to give the instruction is particularly frustrating to Double Up because Double Up raised this

precise issue with the trial court and advised the trial court about the importance of this issue before the testimony began:

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