JUL 22 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION IS
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By.

No. 32935-6

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZURIEL, INC., a Washington corporation; EDWARD D. OCHOA, Jr.,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

DAN GALBREATH and JANE DOE GALBREATH, husband and wife; DOUBLE UP RANCH, INC., a Washington corporation; GREG GALBREATH and JANE DOE GALBREATH, husband and wife; 82 FARMS, INC., a Washington corporation,

Defendants/Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S REPLY BRIEF

BRIAN G. DAVIS WSBA # 43521 Attorney for Respondents JOHN G. SCHULTZ WSBA # 776 Attorney for Respondents

LEAVY, SCHULTZ, DAVIS, & RUFF, P.S. 2415 W. Falls Avenue Kennewick, WA 99336 Phone: (509) 736-1330

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

that Triclopyr and I believe—excuse me, Picloram and I believe also the Triclopyr that there is zero tolerance for those chemicals. And the argument has been made that for that reason the court should give that instruction.

And during the course of the testimony, as I recall it, the experts indicated that there was a zero tolerance, as I said, and I think it was indicated that that would show—the presence of those chemicals would show that there had to have been—arguable that there had to have been an additional application.

I think the defense experts indicated that the presence of those chemicals were not applied as part of the WideMatch, indicated there had to be another application. I think it's certainly relevant to that issue. But I don't—after considering it, I don't think that its proper for the court to give the instruction that Picloram and/or Triclopyr are not—are federally prohibited substances. I think that confuses—can confuse the issues in this matter, and I also think that the defense can certainly argue their theory of the case without the court giving that instruction.

(RP 1679-80)

Therefore, the Galbreaths were allowed to argue their theory of the case without the proposed jury instructions. The evidence and testimony provided at trial from both parties revealed that Clopyralid, Picloram, and Triclopyr all have a zero tolerance level in potatoes. Judge Mitchell provided a more general instruction that catered to the Galbreaths' theory of the

case. It is not error for a trial court to refuse a specific instruction when a more general instruction adequately explains the law. *State v. Hathaway*, 161 Wash. App. 634, 647, 251 P.3d 253, 261 (2011) citing *State v. Portrey*, 102 Wash.App. 898, 902, 10 P.3d 481 (2000); *State v. Castle*, 86 Wash.App. 48, 62, 935 P.2d 656, review denied, 133 Wash.2d 1014, 946 P.2d 402 (1997).

2. <u>Galbreaths' Proposed Jury Instructions Would Be</u>
<u>Misleading and Misstate the Law Because Both Picloram and</u>
<u>Triclopyr Were Found to be Outliers by WSDA and Would Not</u>
Have Condemned Ochoa's Entire Field

"Jury instructions must be formulated so that they fairly and adequately cover the issues presented, correctly state the law, and are not misleading." *Duran v. City of Maywood*, 221 F.3d 1127, 1130 (9th Cir. 2000) quoting *Gilbrook v. City of Westminster*, 177 F.3d 839, 860 (9th Cir.) quoting *Chuman v. Wright*, 76 F.3d 292, 294 (9th Cir.1996)).

The proposed jury instructions would misstate the applicable law and mislead the jury because the residues of Picloram and Triclopyr found in just two samples were not pertinent to the ultimate fate of Ochoa's crop. (RP 240) Ochoa

would have been able to isolate damaged portions of his field by removing potatoes in small areas, possibly as small as a five foot by five foot section. (RP 309) The presence of such chemicals would not have condemned the entire field as did the Clopyralid, in which Galbreaths conceded as being responsible for. (RP 343) To inform the jury otherwise with such instructions would only lead to confusion.

Jeffrey Zeller, the WSDA pesticide investigator that investigated Ochoa's field for possible sources of contaminants testified as follows:

- Q. Now let's be absolutely honest here, Mr. Zeller, it appears to this test you found two other chemicals, Picloram and Triclopyr.
- A. That's correct.
- Q. Now what's Picloram?
- A. Picloram is a herbicide.
- Q. What's Picloram commonly used for?
- A. It's used as a herbicide in grain production usually as a spot treat for large perennial weeds such as Canada Thistle.
- Q. So you say it's in grain production to treat a weed like a thistle. Would that be like going into a wheat field and spraying a thistle?

- A. Or a number of them growing together, yes, in a patch.
- Q. And tell me about Triclopyr. Because we find Triclopyr here. Let's now identify the eight ball. What's Triclopyr?
- A. That's another herbicide.
- Q. What Triclopyr commonly used for?
- A. It can be used in grain production. It also can be used in right-of-way use.

(RP 162-63)

On cross-examination, Zeller further testified on the finding of Picloram and Triclopyr as follows:

- Q. Wasn't the short version, Mr. Zeller, you didn't try to determine the source of those herbicides?
- A. Well, there was only one area and they were not pertinent to the ultimate fate of Mr. Ochoa's crop.
- Q. Excuse me, Picloram was found in two areas; correct?
- A. The one for certain and then there was another Q.
- Q. And what's your testimony that Q means?
- A. It means it's not—it may be there they cannot quantify the amount.

(RP 240)

Gena Reich, the Eastern Washington regional manager for WSDA Food and Safety testified as follows:

- Q. Can a grower isolate the problem and maybe harvest around a particular contaminant?
- A. That's quite common.
- Q. How do they do that then? How do they isolate the problem?
- A. Through the sample results. They'll show where it is and where it isn't.
- Q. Will they test around where that result was?
- A. Yes, they will if they're trying to narrow it even further.
- Q. Uh-huh. Do you have experience with isolating areas that have contaminants?
- A. Yes, it's very common, especially in a drift-type situation where it may only have drifted across a portion of the field. We'll narrow it and only the part that's contaminated doesn't get harvested, the rest is fine.
- Q. In your experience, how small can that portion be that is isolated?
- A. As small as the samples around it support.
- Q. Could that be a five by five—five foot by five foot section?
- A. It could be if there were samples, negative samples around that space.

(RP 308-09)

Residues of Picloram and Triclopyr were not found to be pertinent to the ultimate condemnation of Ochoa's field by WSDA investigator Jeffrey Zeller. Based on the evidence and testimony provided, residues of such chemicals would be caused by spot treatments for various types of weeds and any potatoes affected would be isolated from the rest of the field. (RP 162-63; 308-09) The residues of both Picloram and Triclopyr were not cause for concern during the WSDA's investigation of Ochoa's field because Clopyralid was found uniform throughout the field as a result of Galbreaths' WideMatch application. Clopyralid was deemed to be the only source that restricted Ochoa's potatoes from entering the food chain. (RP 313) To allow Galbreaths' proposed jury instructions would mislead the jury and misstate the applicable law because such instructions would render an interpretation that any trace of Picloram or Triclopyr would condemn the entire field, which not a true and accurate statement according the evidence and testimony provided.

3. No Substantial Evidence Supported the Galbreaths'
Proposed Jury Instructions Because the Potatoes Were
Embargoed Only Because Of Clopyralid, Which Was Found
Widespread and Uniform Throughout the Field

"Jury instructions are sufficient if substantial evidence supports them..." State v. Clausing, 147 Wash.2d 620, 626, 56 P.3d 550 (2002). Galbreaths contend that proposed jury instructions regarding Federal Law prohibiting the sale of potatoes that have detectable residues of Picloram and Triclopyr should have been given to the jury. However, these instructions are not support by any substantial evidence because WSDA Food and Safety cited only Clopyralid as the reason it barred Ochoa's potatoes from market. (RP 313) Picloram and Triclopyr were found in just two spots, and would have been isolated from the rest of the crop. (RP 308-309) This isolation would have been as small as a five by five foot area, unlike Clopyralid which resulted 130 acres being condemned. (RP 308-309) The presence of such chemical residue would not have embargoed the entire field as did the Clopyralid. Gena Reich, the Eastern Washington regional manager for WSDA Food and Safety testified as follows:

- Q: After you found Clopyralid throughout the field, what then did you do?
- A: The Dave and Rob contacted the grower and let him know the results. The results that we found were, we took six samples and I know Dave's going to talk to you later, so he should go into this a little bit more. But, there was one sample where it was not detected. It was found in five out of six of the samples.
- Q. All right. And was Mr. Ochoa's field restricted from entering the food chain?
- A. It was.
- Q. And why was it restricted from entering the food chain?
- A. Because of the presence of Clopyralid.
 (RP 313)

Clopyralid was widespread and uniform throughout

Ochoa's field. (RP 215) Furthermore, Galbreaths affirmed the
fact that they had applied the herbicide WideMatch containing

Clopyralid the year prior and that application was the only
source of Clopyralid within the field. (RP 343) Dan Galbreath
testified as follows:

- Q. Okay. I'll show you the deposition and ask you and I hope that can you see the deposition?
- A. Yes.

- Q. The question I asked you: The only source of Clopyralid in Eddie's field was the application the year before by your cousin of WideMatch.
- A. Yes, that's correct.
- Q. Your answer then was yes.
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Is that your answer today?
- A. The only source of the Clopyralid in the field that was applied the year before was by my cousin with the WideMatch?
- Q. Yes.
- A. Yes.

(RP 343)

Galbreaths were fully responsible for the Clopyralid found in Ochoa's field and the field was condemned by WSDA Food and Safety because of the zero tolerance for Clopyralid, not Picloram or Triclopyr.

D. Exclusion of Jury Instructions is a Moot Issue Because Galbreaths Cannot Escape Liability as a Matter of Law

1. Even if Another Source was a Proximate Cause, Galbreaths Would Be a Concurrent Cause and are Not Exempt from Liability Based on Contributing Factors There may be more than one proximate cause of an injury. *State v. Jacobsen*, 74 Wash.2d 36, 37, 442 P.2d 629 (1968). And the concurrent negligence of a third party does not break the chain of causation between original negligence and the injury. *Id.* If the defendant's original negligence continues and contributes to the injury, the intervening negligence of another is an additional cause. It is not a superseding cause and does not relieve the defendant of liability. *Doyle v. Nor–West Pac. Co.*, 23 Wash.App. 1, 6, 594 P.2d 938 (1979); *Eckerson*, 3 Wash.2d 475, 101 P.2d 345. As stated in *Travis v. Bohannon*:

The rule is found in *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 439: "If the effects of the actor's negligent conduct actively and continuously operate to bring about harm to another, the fact that the active and substantially simultaneous operation of the effects of a third person's innocent, tortious, or criminal act is also a substantial factor in bringing about the harm does not protect the actor from liability."

128 Wash. App. 231, 242-43, 115 P.3d 342, 348 (2005).

Ochoa's potatoes were barred by the WSDA from commerce because of the presence of Clopyralid found uniformly throughout the field. Even Galbreaths' primary expert witness, Stuart Turner, conceded that Galbreaths were

the cause of the Clopyralid within Ochoa's field. His testimony is as follows:

Q. Now I want to ask you about the fundamental conclusions you've reached here before we go into them and go into how you reached them.

You've done a lot of research, including a planting 25 miles away, and did you conclude that possibly as much as a quarter or a third of the amount of the Clopyralid found in this field came from the WideMatch application the year before?

- A. That is correct. That's my calculation. Depends on exactly which set of numbers you use, that's the range, yes.
- Q. You are not saying that there was no Clopyralid in this field from the year before.
- A. No, sir, I'm not saying that.

(RP 1263-64)

Potatoes have a zero tolerance for Clopyralid, so any detectable residue would render them unfit for human consumption. Even if the jury instructions were given to include Federal Law prohibiting potatoes containing Picloram and Triclopyr from commerce, the presence of such chemicals would have been a concurrent cause of condemnation for which the Galbreaths would still be held liable.

2. <u>Galbreaths are Jointly and Severally Liable for Damages</u> Caused to Respondent's Field Pursuant to RCW 4.22.070(1)(b)

Pursuant to RCW 4.22.070(1)(b), the Galbreaths are jointly and severally liable for 100% of the damages caused to Ochoa's crop. The effect of joint and several liability is that each tortfeasor is liable for the entire harm. See e.g. *Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Shoreline Concrete Co.*, 91 Wn.2d 230, 588 P.2d 1308 (1978). Joint and several liability requires each tortfeasor to be liable for the entire harm, and the plaintiff can sue one or all of the tortfeasors to obtain full recovery. *Id.* at 234-35.

"Except as otherwise provided in RCW 4.22.070, if more than one person is liable to a claimant on an indivisible claim for the same injury, death or harm, the liability of such persons shall be joint and several." RCW 4.22.030.

RCW 4.22.070(1) states that

In all actions involving fault of more than one entity, the trier of fact shall determine the percentage of the total fault which is attributable to every entity which caused the claimant's damages except entities immune from liability to the claimant under Title 51 RCW. The sum of the percentages of the total fault attributed to at-fault entities shall equal one hundred percent. The

entities whose fault shall be determined include the claimant or person suffering personal injury or incurring property damage, defendants, third-party defendants...The liability of each defendant shall be several only and shall not be joint except if:

(b) If the trier of fact determines that the claimant or party suffering bodily injury or incurring property damages was not at fault, the defendants against whom judgment is entered shall be jointly and severally liable for the sum of their proportionate shares of the claimants total damages.

Thus, RCW 4.22.070 provides that in actions involving a fault-free plaintiff and damages caused by both at-fault entities, the at-fault defendants are jointly and severally liable for the sum of their proportionate shares of the claimant's total damages.

Tegman v. Accident & Med. Investigations, Inc., 150 Wash. 2d 102, 114, 75 P.3d 497, 502 (2003).

Under the plain language of RCW 4.22.070(1)(b), joint and several liability is invoked if the trier of fact concludes the claimant or the party incurring property damages is fault-free.

In our case, Galbreaths are claiming that they should be relieved of liability for the damages they caused to Ochoa's potatoes because of the presence of other chemicals besides Clopyralid (namely Triclopyr and Picloram), which were found

in two remote areas of the field at extremely low levels.

Triclopyr was found in one spot at a level of 0.002 while

Picloram was found in one spot at a level of 0.098 and another at a detection level Q, meaning it was detected at a level that is below the quantitation limit. (See Ex. 31, Ex. 26)

This claim is moot because the Galbreaths are joint and severally liable for the damages incurred by Ochoa under RCW 4.22.070(1)(b). The evidence is clear that Galbreaths applied the herbicide WideMatch, which contained the chemical Clopyralid, the year prior to Ochoa planting potatoes. The potatoes were rendered unfit for human consumption by WSDA because Clopyralid was found to be throughout the field. Regardless of whether small amounts of additional chemicals were found, which WSDA deemed to be outliers, Ochoa's potatoes would have been embargoed because of the Clopyralid applied by the Galbreaths was found widespread throughout Ochoa's field. Even without the presence of Clopyralid, the two areas that contained Picloram and Triclopyr would have been isolated and Ochoa's crop would have been harvested.

Furthermore, the trier of fact and Galbreaths concluded that the evidence was clear and convincing that Ochoa was fault-free and had no part in the embargo of the potatoes.

Judgment was entered against Galbreaths, and even if the jury instructions regarding Federal Law prohibiting Picloram and Triclopyr was given (for the sole purpose of shifting partial fault on a non-existing party), Galbreaths are held jointly and severally liable for the damages incurred by Ochoa, which would render the proposed jury instructions moot. Therefore, Federal Law prohibiting the sale of potatoes that have detectable residues of Picloram or Triclopyr is moot because Galbreaths are held jointly and severally liable.

- D. The Trial Court Correctly Directed a Verdict on Duty

 and Breach of Duty Because There was No Substantial

 Evidence or Reasonable Inferences Therefrom to Support a

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